FILED

SID J. WHITE

APR 7 1995

CLERK, SUPPLINE COURT

FLORIDA SUPREME COURT, STATE OF FLORIDA

PAULA MICHELLE FISEL,

APPELLANT

CASE NO. 85,285

VS.

WILLIAM C. WYNNS and FRANK R. WYNNS,

APPELLEE

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

Harry T. Hackney, Esquire
Attorney for the Plaintiff/Appellant,
Paula M. Fisel
CUMMINS, MUELLER & JUDSON, P.A.
Post Office Box 491565
Leesburg, Florida 34749-1656
(904) 787-5411
Florida Bar No. 602442

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

Cases construing the Warren Act, which is Florida Statute sections 588.12 to 588.26, have not kept pace with changes in the State of Florida and the law of negligence. In the forty-six (46) years since the Warren Act was passed, Florida has experienced explosive growth in vehicles registered, drivers licensed, and miles travelled. Tourists and new residents are the mainstay of the Florida economy and livestock raising has declined.

Traditionally, livestock owners have been shown amazing deference when their animals are found on the public roads in violation of Florida Statute section 588.14. No inferences are drawn from the fact an animal is found on the road in contravention of a state law intended to protect the motoring public from such an occurrence. At common law, a livestock owner kept his animals on his premises or answered for damages in trespass to those injured by the wandering stock. The common law was revived in 1949 when Florida Statute sections 588.02 to 588.06, which created an open range state, were repealed and the Warren Act passed. Florida Statute sections 588.14 and 588.15 should be construed in parimateria in accordance with their purpose. They should be strictly construed to the extent they are in derogation of the common law.

The law in this area is neither recent nor consistent. The District Courts of Appeal have struggled to distinguish cases with little difference to allow plaintiffs to present their cases to a jury. It is up to the Supreme Court to clarify and modernize the law.

ISSUE II

The Florida Supreme Court has defined negligence <u>per se</u> as the violation of a statute establishing a duty to take precautions to protect a particular class of persons from a particular injury, or injury type, where (1) the Plaintiff belongs to the protected class; (2) suffers an injury of the type the statute was designed to prevent; and (3) the violation of the statute was a proximate cause of the injury. All of these factors exist in this case.

Livestock owners, however, have been able to violate the clear prohibition of Florida Statute Section 588.14 for more than thirty (30) years without the violation constituting negligence per se or evidence of negligence in an action for damages under Florida Statute Section 588.15. Nothing in either statute prohibits application of the doctrine of negligence per se. There is no logical distinction between livestock cases and all other negligence cases involving violations of statutory duties. Applying a principle of negligence law first adopted in Florida over twenty (20) years ago will not make livestock owners "virtual insurers" of motorists, anymore than it has made any other group which has lived with negligence per se for twenty (20) years "insurers". The livestock owner is in the best position to control his gates and fences and to see that his animals stay off the public roads. The cost relative to the potential injury is low. In this case, a chain and \$12.00 padlock could have prevented many thousands of dollars in losses to people and property.

It is by definition negligence <u>per se</u> to violate Florida Statute Section 588.14. At a minimum, it is evidence of

negligence. The summary judgement should be reversed on the grounds it is negligence <u>per se</u> to violate Florida Statute section 588.14 and the plaintiff has made a <u>prima facie</u> case sufficient to avoid summary judgment. A trial should be held on all issues and the jury should be allowed to determine whether the violation of section 588.14 was the proximate cause of Fisel's injuries. The jury should receive a negligence <u>per se</u> instruction.

ISSUE III

Summary judgment was improper because genuine issues of material fact remain for a jury to decide. Paula Fisel's vehicle collided with a black cow that was on a public roadway at night. The cow had escaped from its pasture through an open gate, which was one of two (2) gates used for access to a residence. The cow was pastured on land surrounding the residence. There were forty (40) cows on the property, and all of the cows had unhampered access to the gate. The gate was not equipped with a padlock or cattle gap.

The Appellees do not know how the gate came to be open. No holes were found in the fence and there is no other way the two (2) cows known to have escaped could have gotten loose. Frank Wynns was the last person known to have used the gate on the Friday afternoon before the pre-dawn Sunday accident. He testified he closed and latched it and reentered through another gate.

The jury should be allowed to decide whether the Appellees used reasonable care under the particular circumstances of this case where their gate was not padlocked and was used for ingress and egress to a residence. The trial court apparently concluded it

was not foreseeable that an intervening cause, such as a person opening the unlocked gate, could result in the escape of the cow involved in the accident. The Fifth DCA ruled there was no inference a trespasser or visitor opened the gate. If not, how did the gate open absent negligence of the Defendants in securing the gate?

The Appellant submits that where a residence access gate, which opened on pasture land containing forty (40) head of cattle, was not padlocked or equipped with a cattle gap, a zone of risk was created and it was reasonably foreseeable someone would open the gate and leave it unlatched allowing some of the forty (40) cows to escape. It is not necessary that the defendant foresee a particular risk or act so long as the incident causing injury was foreseeable and within the scope of the risk created. Only a fully independent and unforeseeable intervening cause can absolve the original tortfeasor of liability. A foreseeable act of a third party is merely a concurring cause, and not a superseding cause insulating the tortfeasor from liability.

The jury should be allowed to decide whether the Wynns were negligent either because the gate was not latched properly by Frank Wynns or because it was foreseeable the access gate might be opened and left open by a visitor or trespasser. If there is no inference of a trespasser or other intervening cause absolving the Wynns of liability, as asserted by the Fifth DCA, then the Wynns have failed to sustain the very heavy burden imposed on the movant for summary judgment. The summary judgment should be reversed because material issues remain for determination.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Just after midnight on March 15, 1992, Paula Fisel's vehicle struck a black cow standing in the westbound lane of County Road 48 near Bushnell in Sumter County. Frank and William Wynns owned the cow. R. 4,5, 10, and 146, lines 19-25 (D. F. Wynns p. 2). Frank Wynns was called to the scene at about 1:00 a.m.. R. 150, lines 21-24 (D. F. Wynns p.6).

Fisel's damaged vehicle stopped sideways across the eastbound lane of County Road 48. R. 95, lines 19-25 (D. Fisel p. 71). Billy Arnold Sizemore was driving eastbound on County Road 48 when he came upon the scene of the recent accident headed straight for Fisel's damaged vehicle R. 2 and 97, lines 9-11; 100, lines 17-19; and 102, lines 7-11 (D. Fisel pp. 73, 76, and 78). Ms. Fisel's passenger, Athena Estrada, escaped from the vehicle but fell before reaching the roadside. R. 98, line 25 through 100, line 19 (D. Fisel pp. 74-76). Fisel tried to get out on the driver's side, which was away from the oncoming eastbound car, but the door was jammed shut. Prior to hitting the cow, that door worked fine. R. 98, lines 11-18 (D. Fisel p. 74). After exiting the truck via the passenger's door, Ms. Fisel ran to help the fallen Ms. Estrada and Mr. Sizemore's car hit her. R. 100, line 6 through 102, line 18 (D. Fisel pp. 76-79).

Ms. Fisel suffered a severe fracture of her lower right leg and lacerations. She has serious scarring of her right leg and elbow. R. 110, line 7 through 111, line 24 (D. Fisel pp. 86 and 87) R. 140, line 11 through 141, line 13 (D. Fisel pp. 116-117). The

leg fracture did not heal well, and rods and screws were surgically inserted to fix the break. R. 118, line 10 through 119, line 1 (D. Fisel pp. 94-95). She has residual pain and faces more surgery to remove the hardware. R. 113, lines 10-25 and 131, line 18 through 132, line 24 (D. Fisel pp. 89, 107, and 108). Ms Fisel is in her early twenties.

Frank Wynns found the western gate to his property open following the accident. R. 154, lines 1-22 and 160, line 20 through 161, line 2. (D. F. Wynns pp. 10, 16, and 17). This gate opens onto a limerock road, and is 1400 feet from County Road 48. R. 148, lines 18-21; 158, lines 18-20; and 162, lines 23-25 (D. F. Wynns pp. 4, 14 and 18). It is one (1) of two (2) gates regularly used for access to the home of Frank Wynns. R. 148, lines 22-25 (D. F. Wynns p. 4). Frank Wynns home is visible from County Road 48. R. 147, lines 9-11 (D. F. Wynns p. 3)

Frank and William Wynns had forty (40) head of cattle on Frank Wynns' property at the time of the accident. R. 148, lines 9-15 (D. F. Wynns, p. 4). The cows had free run of the entire property. R. 148, line 22 through 149, line 5 (D. F. Wynns pp. 4 and 5). The cows were kept in by a barbed wire fence with four (4) gates. Two (2) gates were permanently closed and the other two (2), including the west gate, were used for ingress and egress. R. 11; R. 145-183. There were no barriers between the cows and the open gate. The morning after the accident Frank Wynns found one of his cows in an adjacent pasture east of his property. R. 156, lines 10-14 (D. F. Wynns p. 12). Mr. Wynns knows of no other way the two (2) cows

could have escaped other than through the open western gate.

R. 164, line 18 through 165, line 3 (D. F. Wynns pp. 20-21).

Frank Wynns does not know how the western gate came to be open. R. 154, lines 9-10 (D. F. Wynns p. 10). He used the western gate the Friday before the early Sunday morning accident on his way into town. He claims he closed the gate behind him. R. 154, lines 11-20 (D. F. Wynns p. 10). A sliding latch secured the western gate. R. 155, lines 1-5 (D. F. Wynns p. 11). There was no padlock on the gate. R. 161, line 16 through 162, line 11; and 175, lines 11-13 (D. F. Wynns pp. 17, 18, and 31). He reentered his property through the eastern gate rather than the western gate. R. 174, line 14 through 175, line 6 (D. F. Wynns pp. 30-31).

Ms. Fisel sued the Wynns and Sizemore in February, 1993. Count I alleged William C. Wynns and Frank R. Wynns intentionally, willfully, carelessly, or negligently suffered or permitted their livestock to run at large or stray upon the public roads resulting in a collision between Ms. Fisel's vehicle and their cow, and her subsequent collision with Sizemore's vehicle. R. 1 and 2. She alleged Mr. Sizemore's vehicle would not have hit her "but for" the collision with the Wynns' cow. R. 2. Count II of the Complaint is against Billy Arnold Sizemore for negligence. R. 2. Mr. Sizemore is unrepresented.

Counsel for the Wynns denied the essential elements of the Complaint, and alleged three (3) affirmative defenses. R. 4 and 5. Frank and William Wynns filed a two (2) page Motion for Summary Judgement. R. 15-16. The affidavit of Frank R. Wynns was served

later, and Judge Booth struck it as untimely. R. 192. The Court granted the Motion for Summary Judgement, and entered Final Judgment for the Wynns on August 20, 1993. R. 192-193 and 296. The trial court found the Wynns "...in no way intentionally, willfully, carelessly, or negligently permitted their livestock to roam upon a public highway...." R. 296. An appeal to the Fifth District Court of Appeal was timely filed.

Oral argument was held before Chief Judge Harris and Judges Griffin and Dauksch on April 19, 1994. The Fifth D.C.A. issued an opinion en banc authored by Chief Judge Harris on October 14, 1994. Judges Dauksch and Griffin dissented with separate opinions. App. R. 3-15. Fisel then moved to certify the question pursuant to Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.330(a) on the basis of great public importance and express and direct conflict with cases applying the doctrine of negligence per se. App. R. 16-18. The Fifth D.C.A. granted the Motion and certified a question on February 17, 1995. App. R. 19-22. This appeal was then timely taken to this Court.

ISSUE I

HAVE CHANGING CONDITIONS IN FLORIDA ALTERED PUBLIC POLICY AS ANNOUNCED IN SELBY V. BULLOCK, 287 SO.2D 18 (FLA. 1973), SO THAT A LIVESTOCK OWNER MAY NOW BE LIABLE FOR INJURIES RESULTING WHEN THE OWNER'S LIVESTOCK WANDERS THROUGH AN OPEN GATE AND THE REASON THE GATE IS OPEN IS UNKNOWN?

This is the question the majority of the Fifth District Court of Appeal certified. It implies a livestock owner may not be held liable in most circumstances. In fact, there are few successful

livestock cases reported. A plaintiff must almost show the livestock owner shooed the livestock onto the road. The Fifth District believes the following quote from <u>Selby</u> states the public policy:

The Warren Act [the statutes involved in the action] has delegated responsibilities and rights among livestock owners and motorists consistent with the goals of promoting the safety of highway users and the livestock Any modification of this position industry. should be done by the Legislature. To require fencing by the livestock owner and in addition thereto, hold him strictly liable, would place impossible burden on the livestock Those in the livestock industry industry. would become virtual insurers, and this would retard and diminish stock raising as important part of Florida agri-business.

<u>Selby</u> at 21 (as quoted on pages three (3) and four (4) of the Fifth District's en banc opinion.) App. R. 5 and 6.

It is important to place the above quote in the context of the issues raised in <u>Selby</u>. The <u>Selby</u> plaintiff argued it was a denial of equal protection not to hold cow owners strictly liable for damages in the same manner as dog owners. The Warren Act's requirement of proof of negligence did not unconstitutionally create an unreasonable classification. <u>Selby</u> at 22. Fisel does not seek to impose strict liability on the livestock industry. She does seek to have this Court clarify the law and establish that motorists injured by livestock on public roads have the same rights and legal doctrines available to them as other victims of negligence.

The Florida Supreme Court has considered the Warren Act, which is Florida Statute sections 588.12 to 588.26, at least three (3)

Rockow, 238 So.2d 588 (Fla. 1970); and Selby v. Bullock, 287 So.2d 18 (Fla. 1973), adopting, Rockow v. Hendry, 230 So.2d 717 (Fla. 2d DCA 1970). In Lynch and Selby, this Court was more concerned with constitutional issues than the specific facts of the case. Selby does not mention the underlying facts except to say it involves a "classic" motor vehicle versus livestock collision where a motorist hit a cow at night. The plaintiff presented a prima facie case of negligence and the case went to the jury. Selby at 20. The Supreme Court adopted an entire Second DCA opinion as its own in Hendry.

The Warren Act's purpose is to put livestock owners under a duty to prevent stock from running at large or straying upon public roads. Selby at 21-22; and Davidson v. Howard, 438 So.2d 899, 901 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983). It does not require livestock owners to fence their property as stated in Selby. See, Davidson at 901. See, also, Zuppardo v. O'Hare, 487 So.2d 39, 40 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986). How the livestock owner complies with his Warren Act duty is irrelevant. He can use a fence, wall, tether, or anything else that works. Davidson at 901. Florida Statute sections 588.01 to 588.11 concerning a "legal fence" and "legally enclosed land" were enacted to protect landowners from human trespassers and not as part of the Warren Act. Zuppardo at 40.

The Fifth DCA interpreted the "legal fence" statutes as applying to the Warren Act and as providing some measure of immunity for wandering livestock, as did the <u>Selby</u> court. This is

indicative of the confused state of the law in this area. On the one hand, the Supreme Court has held that the Warren Act mandates fencing. On the other hand, two District Courts of Appeal have held there is no mandatory fencing requirement for owners of livestock, except as protection from trespassers. fencing laws were mandatory and relevant to the Warren Act, compliance would only be evidence of due care and would not conclusively prove the exercise of due care, especially in light of non-compliance with another equally relevant statute. Nicosia v. Otis Elevator Co., 548 So. 2d 854 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989). The violation of a statute is usually strict liability negligence per se, negligence per se, or prima facie evidence of negligence, except when the statute is Florida Statute section 588.14 and then a violation is meaningless. The Warren Act has been construed so as to create a class of cases where there is "strict non-liability" per se for defendants.

English common law required livestock owners to keep their livestock on their premises or suffer damages for their trespass. Hendry v. Rockow, 238 So.2d 588 (Fla. 1970), adopting, Rockow v. Hendry, 230 So.2d 717 (Fla. 2d DCA 1970). See, also, Harris v. Baden, 154 Fla. 373, 17 So.2d 608 (1944). Florida adopted English common law after Spain ceded it to the United States. Fencing laws enacted as Florida Statute sections 588.02 to 588.06 abrogated the common law and legislatively created an open range state, but the common law was revived when these fencing laws were repealed in 1949. Rockow, 230 So.2d at 719. See, also, Dutton Phosphate Co.

v. Priest, 67 Fla. 370, 65 So. 282 (1914), and Selby at 22 (Dissenting opinion).

The usual appellate construction of the Warren Act defeats the purpose of the Warren Act and deviates liberally from the common law. In fact, the Fifth DCA's majority opinion below got the common law exactly backward. It wrote, without citation, that Florida was an "open range state" before the enactment of Chapter 588, and that a motorist hitting a cow owed damages to the cow owner. Actually, Chapter 588 was not enacted at one time as a whole, and the legal fencing requirements are not a part of the Warren Act. See, generally, Rockow, Davidson, and Zuppardo. App. R. 4. Again, this is due to the confused state of the law. The Warren Act must be strictly construed to the extent it is in derogation of the common law. See, 49 Fla. Jur. 2nd, Statutes, section 192.

Sections 588.14 and 588.15 should be read in <u>pari materia</u> and the Warren Act should be construed in accordance with its purpose. Welch vs. Baker, 184 So.2d 188, 190 (Fla. 1st D.C.A. 1966). The Appellant respectfully submits that in actuality section 588.14 has been ignored and not read in <u>pari materia</u>. The result is that the Warren Act has not been construed according to its purpose to keep livestock off the roads.

Tourists and new residents are the two (2) most important businesses in Florida. Both often travel by car. In 1949, there were 867,500 automobiles, buses, and trucks registered in Florida. University of Florida Bureau of Economic Research, Florida

Statistical Abstract 1967, Table 16.150 (1967). (App. 1) In 1974, the year after <u>Selby</u> was decided, there were 6,296,550 licensed drivers and 6,750,609 registered vehicles. These vehicles drove 61,397,000,000 vehicle miles. Florida Department of Highway Safety and Motor Vehicles, Traffic Crash Facts 1993, pg. 6 (1993). (App. 7) [hereinafter "1993 Traffic Crash Facts"]. In 1993, there were 11,767,409 licensed drivers and 11,159,938 registered vehicles which travelled 119,768,000,000 vehicle miles. <u>Id</u>. This Court is certainly aware that Florida is the fourth most populous state in the United States, and that Florida's highways have become increasingly crowded and congested. There has been a substantial increase in drivers, vehicles, and miles travelled on Florida's roads.

In contrast, the number of cattle and calves declined 5.1 percent between 1987 and 1992 from 1,879,124 to 1,783,968. University of Florida Bureau of Economic and Business Research, Florida Statistical Abstract 1994, Table 9.34 (1994). (App. 6). Collisions with animals caused 331 accidents in 1993 resulting in two (2) deaths and 252 injuries. 1993 Traffic Crash Facts at pg. 37. (App. 7) The number of car versus animal collisions varies from year to year. See, Florida Statistical Abstracts 1967 to 1994 which are included in the appendix. (App. 1-6) Whether livestock collisions are a "big problem" probably depends on whether you are one of the hundreds involved annually in such collisions.

Florida's appellate courts have led the way in modernizing tort law. Insurance Co. of North America v. Pasakarnis, 451 So.2d

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