**SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA**

**PAULA MICHELLE FISEL,**

Appellant,

-vs-

**WILLIAM C. WYNNS  
and FRANK R. WYNNS,**

Appellees.

---

Case No. 85,285  
District Court of Appeal  
Fifth District No. 95-2207  
Circuit Court Case No. 93-141 CA

**FILED**

SID J. WHITE

MAY 26 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT  
By   
Chief Deputy Clerk

**ANSWER BRIEF**

**FRANK A. MILLER, ESQUIRE  
STUART & STRICKLAND, P.A.  
217 N. HOWELL AVENUE  
BROOKSVILLE, FLORIDA 34601  
904/796-6733  
FLORIDA BAR NUMBER 910831  
ATTORNEY FOR APPELLEES  
WILLIAM C. WYNNS and FRANK R. WYNNS**

**

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

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

In 1949, Sections 588.12 through 588.25, Florida Statutes, commonly known as the "Warren Act", emerged from the halls of the Florida Legislature. The "Warren Act" specifically incorporates Sections 588.14 and 588.15, Florida Statutes, entitled "Duty of Owner" and "Liability of Owner", respectively. The Florida Supreme Court and the lower Courts of this State have consistently harmonized these two statutory provisions by requiring evidence of an intentional, willful, careless, or negligent act in order to establish liability and prohibiting the inference of negligence by the mere presence of livestock on the roadway.

The provisions of the "Warren Act" which are again presented for consideration to this Court represent a delicate balance of interests struck by the Florida Legislature in 1949, consistently recognized by the Florida Supreme Court and the lower Courts of this State, and which remain unaltered. Any revision of the statutory provisions of the Warren Act and especially a revision as suggested by Fisel which would limit the effect of Section 588.15 clearly and undisputedly falls within the power of the legislative branch and beyond the parameters of authority granted to the Judiciary.

Fisel's complaint against Wynns alleges that Wynns "intentionally, willfully, carelessly, or negligently suffered or permitted their livestock to run at large upon or stray upon the public roads". After extensive discovery, it is undisputed that Fisel failed to present any record evidence to the Trial



Court of a negligent act committed by Wynns. Fisel requested the Trial Court and the Appellate Court to infer negligence upon Wynns for the mere fact that the cow was on the road at the time of the accident. The Trial Court and the Appellate Court followed the applicable and longstanding law of Florida established by the Legislature and recognized by The Florida Supreme Court and the District Courts of Appeal and refused to infer negligence on the part of Wynns by the mere presence of the cow in the roadway. As Plaintiff, Fisel carries the burden of establishing some genuine issue of material fact as to a negligent act committed by Wynns in order to avoid a summary judgment. Fisel failed to meet that burden and now pleads to this Court, as to the Trial Court and District Court below, that that burden be removed and that liability be imposed upon Wynns in the total absence of any evidence of a negligence act.

Fisel's only hope of establishing negligence on the part of Wynns is for The Florida Supreme Court to recede from a longstanding rule of law and hold that the mere presence of livestock on the road is a violation of Section 588.14, Florida Statutes, and as such is "negligence per se" or evidence of negligence. However, this is prohibited by the existence of Section 588.15, Florida Statutes, which imposes liability only on an "intentional, willful, careless, or negligent" act. It is a long accepted maxim of statutory construction that a statute must be construed in harmony with any other statute relating to the same subject matter and that the Court must construe them so as to preserve the force of both without destroying their evident intent.

In order to hold that the mere presence of livestock on the roadway is "negligence per se" or evidence of negligence, The Florida Supreme Court would not only directly overrule a longstanding and well established law of Florida, but would also extinguish the force and effect of the clear statutory language contained in Section 588.15, Florida Statutes. Such an act is beyond the Judicial powers and must be done by an act of the Florida Legislature.

## ARGUMENT

**I. THE MERE FACT THAT LIVESTOCK ARE UPON A PUBLIC ROAD DOES NOT JUSTIFY AN INFERENCE OF NEGLIGENCE AND THE SUMMARY JUDGMENT ENTERED BY THE TRIAL COURT AND THE OPINION OF THE APPELLATE COURT MUST BE AFFIRMED.**

The undisputed facts contained within the record before the Trial Court squarely places this case within the parameters of the legislative creation commonly known as the "Warren Act" and the longstanding subsequent case law established by The Florida Supreme Court in Lynch v. Durrance, 77 So.2d 458 (Fla. 1955), and Selby v. Bullock, 287 So.2d 18 (Fla. 1973), and followed by the District Courts in Gordon v. Sutherland, 130 So.2d 520 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1961), Lee v. Hinson, 160 So.2d 166 (Fla. 2d DCA 1964), James v. Skinner, 464 So.2d 588 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985), and Beaver v. Howerton, 223 So.2d 62 (Fla. 2d DCA 1969).

In Gordon v. Sutherland, plaintiff filed suit against defendant for damages following a motor vehicle accident in which her automobile collided with two black angus cows which were on the road and which belonged to the defendants. The evidence demonstrated that one of the defendants resided on the ranch from which the cows escaped and that before leaving the ranch prior to the accident, defendant had checked the gates and found them to be secure and that the gate was fastened with a shutter-type latch and at the top of the gate a rope was wrapped and tied. The trial directed a verdict in favor of defendants and the plaintiff appealed. In affirming the Trial Court's decision, the Third District held:

In view of this holding there is no merit in Appellant's contention that the fact that an animal was running at large on the highway justified an inference that defendants had violated the statute. The evidence before the trial judge was completely devoid of proof that defendants negligently suffered or permitted the cows to be on the highway; therefore, there was no evidence of negligence and no prima facie case. Id. at 522.

The central rule of law set forth in Gordon v. Sutherland is that there is no presumption of negligence from the mere fact that cattle were roaming on the highway.<sup>2</sup> Id. at 522.

In perhaps the closest case on point, the plaintiff in Lee v. Hinson filed suit alleging that defendant carelessly and negligently permitted his horses to roam at large upon a public highway causing plaintiff's motor vehicle to subsequently collide with defendant's horses. The facts presented to the Trial Court demonstrated that defendant owned the horses in question, they were kept in a fenced enclosure and that sometime during the night the gate to the enclosure was opened, the horses escaped through the open gate, wandered onto the highway and were struck by plaintiff's automobile. Defendant testified in his deposition that the gate to the enclosure was secured by a chain and snap hook which could only be operated by human hands and could not be operated by the horses and that defendant himself did not open the gate on the night in question and had no knowledge as to who left the gate open. The plaintiff's deposition revealed that he had no knowledge as to how the horses escaped from the fenced enclosure and offered nothing to contradict or impeach the defendant's testimony. The Trial Court entered a Summary Judgment in favor of defendants and the plaintiff appealed. The Second District affirmed the Trial Court's Summary Judgment in favor of defendants finding that the record established that the defendant was not negligent and held:

In our view, this record discloses a classic example of the intent and purpose to be accomplished by the rule authorizing Summary Judgment...the mere fact that the defendant's horses were running at large upon the public highway does not justify an inference that the defendant intentionally, willfully, carelessly or negligently permitted them to so run at large on the highway....Id. at 167.

The rule of law set forth in Gordon v. Sutherland and Lee v. Hinson was followed by the court in Welch v. Baker, 184 So.2d 188 (Fla. 1st DCA 1966), in which the First District affirmed a directed

---

<sup>2</sup>The Court refused to accept Appellant's argument that the fact that livestock was running at large on the highway justified an inference that defendants had violated the statute. Gordon, 131 So.2d. at 522.

verdict entered in favor of defendant and also held:

We recognize the general proposition that ordinarily questions of negligence vel non should be left to the determination of juries or other trier of the facts, and that trial courts in such cases should only with caution direct verdicts at trial or enter Summary Judgments before trial on such questions. Nevertheless, trial and appellate courts have under our system of jurisprudence, retained the power to determine as a matter of law whether certain evidence is sufficient to support a conclusion by the finders of facts as to a question of negligence. This vestigial power of the courts is essential in order to fulfill the ultimate goal of our court system to receive justice under law. Id. at 192.

The above-cited authority clearly establishes that there is no inference of negligence based merely on the fact that defendant's cattle or horses are roaming upon the highway and that a Summary Judgment is proper when the record fails to disclose any negligence on the part of the defendant.

The similarities between the matter presently before this Court and the above-cited case law are obvious and this matter is identical to the facts set forth in Lee v. Hinson. Fisel filed suit against Wynns for damages alleging that Wynns had "intentionally, willfully, carelessly, or negligently suffered or permitted their livestock to run at large upon or stray upon the public roads" resulting in a collision with Fisel's vehicle. The record before the Trial Court was completely void of any evidence that Wynns had intentionally or willfully permitted their livestock to run at large upon the public highway and the essential question was that of negligence. Fisel admitted in her testimony that she had no personal knowledge as to how the cow escaped from the Wynns barbed wire fenced enclosure and her only knowledge was based upon comments made by her lawyer that the cow had escaped through the western gate of the Wynns' property. Frank Wynns uncontroverted testimony demonstrated that he lived on the property alone, did not have any employees, no other person was authorized onto the property, last inspected the western gate prior to the accident at which time he closed and secured the gate which incorporated a sliding latch mechanism which could not be opened by the cattle and had no visitors between his last use and the time of the accident. Further, there was

no evidence of any negligent maintenance of the fence or gate and no evidence of prior trespassers or escapes of the cattle out of the barbed wire fenced enclosure.

Fisel recognizes the lack of any evidence of negligence on the part of Wynns by suggesting in Issue III of her Initial Brief that the Trial Court should have drawn many inferences of Wynns' negligence. However, under the authority of Lee v. Hinson and Gordon v. Sutherland, the Trial Court was clearly forbidden to make any inferences of negligence based merely on the fact that the cow was upon the public highway.

Fisel goes on to suggest that since there is no evidence whatsoever of prior trespassers, then Frank Wynns must have been negligent in securing the gate although there are no facts contained within the record which would suggest such negligence and again such an inference is improper under the case law cited above.<sup>3</sup>

The record is clear that the cow in question was kept in a barbed wire fenced enclosure, the western gate incorporated a sliding latch mechanism which could only be operated by human hands, Frank Wynns closed the western gate prior to the accident and has no knowledge as to how the western gate was opened, there was no evidence of prior escapes or trespassers, and Fisel has no knowledge as to how the cow escaped from the fenced enclosure. Fisel failed to present any evidence which created a genuine issue of fact before the Trial Court and as set forth by The Florida Supreme Court, it is not enough for the party opposing a summary judgment merely to assert that an issue exists. Landers v. Milton, 377 So.2d 368 (Fla. 1979).

---

<sup>3</sup>Further, there was no evidence contained within the record of prior escapes by the Wynns' livestock.

**II. HAVE CHANGING CONDITIONS IN FLORIDA ALTERED PUBLIC POLICY AS ANNOUNCED IN SELBY V. BULLOCK, 287 So.2d 18 (Fla. 1973), SO THAT A LIVESTOCK OWNER MAY NOW BE LIABLE FOR INJURIES RESULTING WHEN THE OWNERS LIVESTOCK WANDERS THROUGH AN OPEN GATE, AND THE REASON THE GATE IS OPEN IS UNKNOWN?**

This is the question the majority of the Fifth District Court of Appeal certified to the Florida Supreme Court as one of great public importance on February 17, 1995.

Although the certified question focuses on "changing conditions", there is absolutely no evidence whatsoever contained within the record presented to the Trial Court nor in the record presented to the Fifth District Court of Appeal which would in any way even remotely demonstrate a "change in conditions in Florida" since the creation of the "Warren Act" by the Florida legislature in 1949 and this Court's ruling in Selby v. Bullock, 287 So.2d 18 (Fla. 1973). This was recognized by Judge Cobb who stated in his dissent to the order certifying the question:

There is nothing in the record before us in this case to suggest a "change in conditions in Florida" since 1973 in regard to the liability of livestock owners, and nothing that suggests to me that this is a question of great public importance to be resolved by the Florida Supreme Court. If the majority members of this Court are interested in revising Section 588.15, Florida Statutes, then they should contact their legislative representatives rather than send a bogus issue to the Florida Supreme Court.

(App.R. 19-22). The only evidence to suggest a "change in conditions" is set forth in the Appendix served with Fisel's Initial Brief to this Court which was not presented to the Trial Court nor the Appellate Court and which is not properly contained in the record and is the subject of a Motion to Strike served contemporaneously with this brief.

Notwithstanding any increase in tourism, the number of motor vehicles travelling the Florida highways and the current level of livestock grazing Florida pastures, the Judiciary simply has no authority to alter the clear legislative intent of the "Warren Act". This was recognized by the Florida Supreme Court in Selby v. Bullock, 287 So.2d 18 (Fla. 1973), in which the honorable and learned

Justice Boyd, writing for the majority, stated:

Chapter 588 requires, *inter alia* the fencing of livestock. It defines a legal fence. It requires that livestock be fenced off the public highways. In exchange for these requirements, it holds the owner responsible if he intentionally or negligently allows his livestock to stray upon a public road. This appears a fair exchange.

It is arguable that the requirement of fencing has done more for the protection of the motoring public than the requirement of proof of negligence has done for the protection of livestock owners.

The Warren Act has delegated responsibilities and rights among livestock owners and motorists consistent within the goals of promoting the safety of highway users and the livestock industry. Any modification of this position should be done by the legislature (emphasis added). *Id* at 21.

Fisel argues that the "Warren Act" should be modified because there are very few successful livestock cases reported and that there is some sort of "strict non-liability" for livestock owners. (Fisel's Initial Brief, pg.7). However, there are a number of cases which demonstrate the perfect application of the balancing of interests established by the "Warren Act". For instance, in Davis v. Johnson, 288 So.2d 554 (Fla.2d DCA 1974), the plaintiff presented evidence of prior escapes through the open gate which presented a factual issue for the jury. The Court in Hughes v. Landers, 215 So.2d 773 (Fla. 2d DCA 1968) and Davison v. Schwartz Farms, Inc., 309 So.2d 610 (Fla. 2d DCA 1975), held that evidence of an improperly maintained fence created a question for the jury as to the negligence of a livestock owner. Further, in James v. Skinner, 464 So.2d 588 (Fla.2d DCA 1985), evidence that the gate to the property could have been pushed open by the livestock created an issue of negligence for the jury. Finally, in Prevatt v. Carter, 315 So.2d 503 (Fla. 2d DCA 1975), evidence of prior escapes by the cattle presented a factual issue of negligence for the jury. The above-cited cases perfectly demonstrate the application of the "Warren Act" and the protection of the competing interests that the "Warren Act" was created to balance and protect. Obviously, the common thread which runs through the above-cited cases and creates the possibility of liability is evidence of negligence which

is completely absent in the record before this Court.

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